

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

11-30-2023

The Association of Maternal Education, Income, and Race on Reduction Childhood Obesity

Ronell Michel Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Public Health Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Sciences and Public Policy

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Ronell Michel

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Loretta Shields, Committee Chairperson, Public Health Faculty Dr. Simone Salandy, Committee Member, Public Health Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

Abstract

The Associations Among Maternal Education, Income, Race, and Reduction in Childhood Obesity

by

Ronell Michel

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

November 2023

Abstract

Childhood obesity (CO) remains an increasing and challenging public health development concern in the United States. Though Florida was indicated to have a reduction in CO, the associations of race, maternal education, and income with CO reduction remain underexplored. In this quantitative study employing social cognitive theory as a theoretical framework, 511 mothers of obese children were surveyed to understand factors associated with the progressive reduction of their children's body mass index (BMI) over time. Race, income, level of education, and BMI of children during the previous four years were collected and analyzed using logistic regression. Results showed a strong relationship between the reduction of CO and maternal education. Mothers who attended college/associate degrees have a fourfold increased chance of reporting a decrease in child obesity than mothers with qualifications below high school. A strong association was found between a mother's income and the reduction of CO. Hence, it is recommended that public health experts develop multiracial programs to enhance the health resilience of communities in Florida. Implications for positive social change include the potential for reducing the prevalence of childhood obesity and thus improving childhood and adult health and mortality.

The Association of Maternal Education, Income, and Race on Reduction Childhood Obesity

by

Ronell Michel

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Public Health

Walden University

November 2023

Table of Contents

List of TablesIV
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Background1
Problem Statement5
Purpose of this Study6
Research Questions and Hypotheses7
Theoretical Foundation for the Study8
Nature of the Study9
Definition of Key Concepts9
Assumptions
Scope and Delimitations10
Limitations10
Significance of the Study10
Summary11
Chapter 2: Literature Review12
Literature Search Strategy12
Literature Review Related to Key Variables13
Childhood Obesity as Global Epidemic13
Causes of Childhood Obesity13
Consequences of Childhood Obesity14

Childhood Obesity in the United States	16
Preschool Obesity	18
Parenting Care: Mothers and Childhood Obesity	19
Managing Childhood Obesity	23
Summary of Literature	25
Chapter 3: Research Method	27
Research Design and Approach	27
The Role of the Researcher	27
Setting	27
Methodology	
Study Sample	
Recruitment Procedures	29
Data Collection Process and Procedures	29
Instrumentation	29
Data Analysis Plan	29
Threats to Validity	30
Ethical Human Protection	
Summary	
Chapter 4: Results	31
Descriptive Analysis	31
Hypotheses Testing	34
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	

Interpretation of the Findings	.39
Recommendation for Further Studies	.41
Policy Recommendations	.42
Implications for Social Change	.43
Conclusion	.43
References	.44
Appendix: Participant Survey	.55

List of Tables

Table 1. Age Distribution of Participants	31
Table 2. Race Distribution of Participants	32
Table 3. Participants' Level of Education	32
Table 4. Income Distribution for Participants	33
Table 5. Logistic Regression Model	36

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Background

The United States is dealing with a significant overweight problem, largely attributed to the continuing prevalence of childhood obesity (CO; Keener et al., 2009; World Health Organization [WHO], 2018). This issue affects both genders, younger and older adolescents, and is evident in all states, social classes, and ethnic backgrounds. The data from 2016 projections revealed that over 40 years, the count of obese school-age children and adolescents has multiplied by more than 10, reaching 124 million from the initial 11 million. The impact of childhood obesity varies across the globe, remaining a pervasive public health epidemic (Matei & Bareille, 2018; Sanyaolu et al., 2019). Among the affected nations, developed countries stand out with the most pronounced effects (Anderson et al., 2019; Bergeron, 2019; Lanigan et al., 2019). Enhancements in food production methods and storage, combined with better family health, particularly among the younger population in the community, have led to the engagement of all family members in productive work activities, resulting in higher family incomes and increased consumption. However, it has also compromised the family members' overall health and well-being, especially the children's, making them vulnerable to weight gain conditions and obesity.

The global public health challenge of CO has been adequately acknowledged and addressed by both intergovernmental and governmental entities. Multiple alliances and strategies have been formulated, resulting in the implementation of measures and interventions to manage and combat this issue. A primary focus lies on promoting lifestyle changes, especially in dietary habits and physical activity levels (Ells & Summerbell, 2005; Lancet, 2015; UNICEF, 2015; WHO, 2018). Dietary practices causing excessive satiety and disrupting hormonal balance are key drivers of rapid weight gain, frequently leading to severe and even fatal outcomes (Matei & Bareille, 2018). The Surgeon General of the United States in 2001 remarked that CO as a major health concern owing to the significant resources which were devoted to combating the phenomenon, including public health initiatives, the establishment of aid-based feeding programs, adjustments made to school feeding and nutrition policies, and further actions taken (Anderson et al., 2019).

The CO epidemic is classified as a complex condition that emerges from the interplay between genetic and environmental factors, with diets playing a crucial role. Obesity is a severe problem in the United States perhaps as a result of the accessibility of foods with a high calorific glycemic index (WHO, 2018). Sugary snacks like soft drinks and pastries are available while there is a lack of vegetables and fruits in the typical school lunch menu (Milbank, 2009). The necessity for rules in schools to align school meals with established standards has become more evident. Policies in schools should emphasize the introduction of physical activity programs to enhance the development of healthy lifestyles.

Environmental impacts, community characteristics, neighborhood alliance and trust building, crime and threat control, teachings on personal safety, and social networks have also been explored as factors on CO. Reviews on socioeconomic factors, health concerns, political factors, ethnicity, and religious dimensions, a lack of physical activities and play programs for children, dietary habits and body shape, and the degree of neighborhood support is also in constants toward CO control (Carter & Dubois, 2010). The prevalence of obesity in children and adolescents aged 2 to 19 varies significantly among different ethnic groups (Sanyaolu et al., 2019). Notably, the prevalence was highest in non-Hispanic Black children and adolescents at 25.8% and Hispanic children and adolescents at 25.1%. However, there were no notable differences in the overall prevalence of obesity across these ethnic groups. The trend was similar among girls, with non-Hispanic Asian girls having a prevalence of 10.1%, non-Hispanic Black girls at 23.6%, non-Hispanic girls at 13.5%, non-Hispanic White girls at 13.6%, and non-Hispanic Hispanic girls at 25.1% with obesity. These resurging rates of childhood obesity have made it important to consider the management and control of the epidemic in light of sociocultural, economic, educational, political, scientific, and technological considerations.

Poor nutritional intake, insufficient exercise, a sedentary lifestyle, and family features like parenting styles and parenting behaviors are additional contributing variables (Sahoo et al., 2015). Children pick up their parents' active or inactive lifestyles (Strauss, 1999). How the family influences obesity prevention, children's food, exercise habits, and lifestyle choices are directly related to the occurrence of obesity in the broader population (Gray et al., 2018). Children under the age of 7 in the United States have shown a strong correlation between the lifestyle of the child and the characteristics of families and family decisions, with 11.3% of the variance in children's weight by the age of 7 is attributed to family lifestyle (Gray et al., 2018). Because of this, factors must be

taken into account when conducting research on CO. Families who have learned about the risks of obesity and how to prevent it via food and exercise have shown to have better health outcomes. Therefore, knowing and explaining care, management, and the rise or fall of childhood obesity depend on family education, particularly mother education.

Obesity has a significant impact on both the mental and physical aspects of health (Sanyaolu et al., 2019). Children having heightened fatty tissues face an increased likelihood of developing several cancers, including breast, kidney, colon, esophagus, and pancreatic cancers. Moreover, the implications of CO are not confined to individual wellbeing but extend to societal and national issues, including divisions, economic disadvantages, diminished productivity, health problems, higher morbidity rates, and premature deaths (NPA, 2005). These major national development issues are reflected in the physical, mental, social, and economic effects experienced in the United States due to CO as well as in social inequality and other kinds of racial injustice.

the importance of family has been recognized (Gray et al., 2018; Owen et al., 2011; Wilson, 2003), it is still unknown how each family member contributes to the development, obstruction, supervision, and treatment of early obesity in the context of the U.S. father and mother. To address this issue, the family, school institutions, and health care officials continue to play a crucial role (Gray et al., 2018; Milbank, 2009; Sullivan & Planas, 2016). This research is focused on Broward County, Florida, and how lifestyle education can contribute to the prevention and management of CO. As the second most populous county in Florida and the 17th most populous in the United States, Broward County is estimated to have around 1,952,778 residents, according to the 2019 Census

Bureau data. Situated in the southeastern region of Florida, the county boasts a diverse population comprising various ethnic and racial groups backgrounds. This diversity offers an ideal context for testing the central hypotheses of this study, seeking to empower families in their role of controlling and managing CO and bolstering the effectiveness of national initiatives in reducing, preventing, intervening, and controlling CO.

Problem Statement

CO in the United States is becoming a major public health issue. According to a recent study based on a sample survey, juvenile obesity in the United States increased between 1978 and 2016 from 5% to 18.5% (Anderson et al., 2019). The study also discovered that from the age of 10 until the age of 18, age-group obesity rises continuously. CO is also racially and ethnically centered. In the United States, Hispanic and Black children are more probable to become obese than those coming from Asian, White, or non-Hispanic backgrounds. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that low-income families and communities, whose kids lack basic dietary knowledge and information and lack access to facilities for physical activity, are more likely to experience childhood obesity.

In industrialized nations like the United States, where a better health care system makes it easier to prevent and treat disorders that affect children, obesity is more prevalent. In the United States, food processing, storage, and marketing have led to recent increases in the prevalence of health care issues such as pediatric obesity (Galvez et al., 2010). Through initiatives and programs for schools, families, and communities, efforts are continuously undertaken to control this public health issue (Parliament et al., 2016). In comparison to national statistics, Florida's rate of CO has been significantly lower and managed due to this initiative (Parliament et al. 2016). According to the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (2020), 12.7% of Florida's children aged 2-4 is obese, placing the state thirty-fourth out of fifty-one in the nation.

Despite Florida reporting a lower national rate of pediatric obesity, this study is centered on understanding CO as a growing local health concern in Broward County. Though Florida's nutrition program catering to children and women has been addressing the principal factors contributing to CO, which primarily involve children's dietary patterns and sedentary behaviors, the role of parent education and maternal education in shaping childhood obesity control and management in this region has not received sufficient attention in existing studies. I examined how maternal education influences lowering the rate of childhood obesity to reflect racial, ethnic, and socioeconomic gaps among inhabitants. It is important to understand the responsibilities played by the family and, most notably, the mother's education to reduce CO in Broward County. This study bridges the research gaps concerning the influence of maternal education on the prevention and management of obesity during childhood.

Purpose of this Study

Race, income, and education influence lifestyle. This study was focused on how these impacted the trends in the reduction in CO in the study area. Focusing on the relationship between these factors can help establish strategies to address CO in Broward County, Florida. I collected data roles of mothers and connectivity in mothers' roles as a catalyst in the control of the growth of CO.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Research Question 1: Was there an association between maternal education and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida?

 H_01 : There is no interrelation between maternal education and the reduction of

CO in Broward County, Florida.

 H_{a} 1: There is an interrelation between maternal education and the reduction of

CO in Broward County, Florida.

Research Question 2: Was there an interrelation between the mother's income and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida?

 H_02 : There is no interrelation between the mother's income and the reduction of

CO in Broward County, Florida.

 H_a 2: There is an interrelation between a mother's income and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida.

Research Question 3: Was there an interrelation between race and the reduction of

CO in Broward County, Florida?

 H_0 3: There is no association between race and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida.

 $H_{\rm a}$ 3: There is an association between race and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida.

Research Question 4: Can child obesity get eliminated using maternal education in Broward County?

Theoretical Foundation for the Study

To demonstrate how racial, income and racial groups differ in the CO management and control trend outcome in the study area, I used the social cognitive theory (SCT). In 1986, psychologist Albert Bandura expanded the social learning theory (SLT) into what is now known as SCT. The primary argument of the theory is that individuals acquire knowledge about themselves and their behaviors through direct observations and personal experiences during everyday social interactions (Boston University, 2019). To explore illness prevention and health promotion with a focus on behavioral changes, Bandura refined the SCT in 1998. According to the SCT, three crucial aspects of human behavior-dynamic, personal, and environmental elementsmust be under control to promote healthy lifestyles and prevent and manage diseases. The theory further asserted that some key ideas, most significantly self-regulation and knowledge, personal self-efficacy, and goal-setting, are essential to designing, implementing, and maintaining health modification and corrections while also being central to explaining human health behavior (Bandura, 1999). These various components can all be seen in the dynamics of racial, socioeconomic, and educational groupings.

The SCT has been widely utilized and embraced in the study of obesity to account for and predict specific activities, causes, and care interventions (Adhikari et al., 2018; Berghernuya et al., 2015, 2018; Hidayanty et al., 2016; Knol et al., 2016). To investigate and comprehend the dynamics of the declining trend in CO prevalence among racial, socioeconomic, and educational groups in Broward, Florida, the SCT was selected for this study. Applying SCT in the study helped illustrate how the patterns of income and education of the various classes varied in connection to the decline in CO. The theory also highlighted the significance of various social (racial) household (income) and education (level of formal learning) as enhancing collective efforts in reducing CO.

Nature of the Study

The research followed a quantitative approach and involved data collection from a specific sample comprising mothers and guardians of obese children in Broward County. A survey using questionnaires as the primary data collection tool, and the collected data were analyzed using logistic regression. Investigation of several variables, including the educational level, race, and income of the mothers/guardians as well as the children's BMI to assess their influence on childhood obesity reduction as defined in the study was conducted.

The main data source was a questionnaire administered to 511 mothers who were contacted for the study. To ensure uniformity in the structure of questions, the questionnaire was designed in a closed-ended format. This facilitated the precise categorization of responses for ease of collation, coding, sorting analysis, and interpretation of responses in preparation for inferential analysis of findings to test the study's assumption.

Definition of Key Concepts

Care: The management of obesity in children in Broward County, Florida.

Childhood obesity: A health issue where a child's weight significantly exceeds the expected range for their age. It is a serious and life-threatening health issue that can have severe consequences on the physical, mental, social, and economic aspects of a

child's life.

Maternal education: The type and level of formal education attained by the mothers of obese children in the research area.

Assumptions

Scope and Delimitations

The scope of the research was limited to the experiences of mothers and their obese children in Broward County. There was limited time to handle the research among all subjects. Moreover, some subjects were also not willing to share information that could be helpful for the study.

Limitations

The study was limited to the experiences of mothers of obese children in Broward County in their forms of education, income, and race to reinforce their responsibility in their care for their children as it affects the obese child's progressive reduction in body mass index. The study relied on the information supplied by the subjects on their understanding of the questions in the instruments. Due to constraints during the survey completion process such as tracking, there might exist potential biases in the respondents' answers. Respondents might have provided positive answers due to the influence of the location of the instrument administration and timing.

Significance of the Study

The research is important in its exploration and analysis of maternal education, income, and race as impact progress in management and reduction in CO. In demonstrating how income and education influence the progression of CO reduction in the study area, the study exposes social and economic gaps that need to be taken care of to fortify care and prevent CO. In this sense, communities, parents, local and federal authorities involved in health care, educators, and food regulation agencies can use the data from the study's findings to identify strategies for advocacy and other helpful measures intended at controlling the condition of CO.

Summary

The study is about child obesity. Child obesity is a health situation where a child exceeds the expected weight at a particular age. A research topic was established to study the impacts, and causes of obesity on children in various families. The study also looks at race, income, and gender as factors that contribute to child obesity.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

CO continues to be a significant public health concern in the United States. However, the health records for Florida show progress with a reduction in the prevalence of this issue, impacting various counties and communities positively. This study addresses the level of maternal education, income, and race as factored into the trend in progression with CO control in Broward County, Florida. This chapter offers a comprehensive review of the literature concerning CO as a global phenomenon, including its causes and impacts. It delves into the specific context of childhood obesity in the United States, exploring the prevalence and associated factors as well as the mother's involvement in addressing the same.

Literature Search Strategy

The literature used for this study was sourced from Google Scholar, online African journals, PubMed, Cochrane Library, and EMBASE. The Walden Library searched for articles on the subject under consideration. The search was conducted using the following keywords: *childhood obesity*, *childhood obesity in the United States*, *care and management of childhood obesity*, *roles of mothers in childhood obesity*, *challenges of care in childhood obesity*, and *prevention of childhood obesity*. Following the discovery of pertinent research, bibliographies and reference lists were checked for pertinent studies that were missed by computerized searches. The search covers Englishlanguage studies from 2010 to 2020, both quantitative and qualitative.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables

Childhood Obesity as Global Epidemic

The most alarming worldwide health issue is CO (Al-Qerem et al., 2017; Karimy et al., 2019; WHO, 2016). CO is widespread in both underdeveloped and developing nations (Karimy et al., 2019). The incidence of CO is highest among countries in southern Europe (Kandasami, 2019), with a combined prevalence of more than 40% (Ahrens et al., 2014). The prevalence of childhood obesity overall rose between 2015 and 2017 in nations like Italy, Greece, Cyprus, Malta, and Spain, translating to 1 in 5 males (18%-21%), though it decreased more slowly among girls. In Canada, about 1 in 3 children are obese, and this trend is somewhat and significantly likely to persist into adulthood (Blanchette et al., 2019). In the United States, childhood, and teenage obesity are epidemic problems (Pan American Health Organization, 2015). Obesity during childhood is a national problem in the United States, with a rate of more than two times for children and four times for teenagers in the past three decades, one-third of children are assumed to have weight problems (Counchonnal et al., 2015). Currently, in the United States, it impacts about 2.2% of preschool children (Parliament et al., 2016). The rate could be one out of every three children (Craig et al., 2017). Though youth obesity is still a well-known public health problem with well-known causes and effects, it is also a complicated epidemic that requires greater focus and study to both lessen and eliminate its effects on a national and group level.

Causes of Childhood Obesity

The factors leading to childhood obesity have been researched. The causes of

obesity in adults and children are the same (Papoutsi et al., 2011). Food practices including eating breakfast, eating junk food regularly, and watching TV while eating were linked to OB (Karimy et al., 2019). There are also fewer weekly opportunities for active playtime and physical education classes at schools (Counchonnal et al., 2015). Additionally, there is constrained access to healthy diets at homes, schools, or daycare, and unwholesome food is constantly being promoted. Households with greater unemployment rates and poor parental income and education are other contributing factors to the emergence of the obesity epidemic in America (Williams & Greene, 2018). This can lead to poor attention to and comprehension of children's weight and inherited health disorders (Pak et al., 2011).

Consequences of Childhood Obesity

The effects of CO around the world have been shown by numerous studies. Morbidity and mortality play a significant role in children's higher weight growth (Arunachalam & Kandasami, 2019). CO has negative effects on psychiatric, psychological, and psycho-social development that raise the risk of developing noncommunicable diseases (NCDs) during adulthood (Di Cesara et al., 2019). Obesity has an impact on almost every system and organ of the human body—mainly, the heart, brain, kidneys, lungs, and bones (Counchonnal et al., 2015). CO follows a person through adolescence and the rest of their life (Ruiz et al., 2016; Williams & Greene, 2018) and provides a basis for the development of other related illnesses such as asthma, cardiovascular disease, and diabetes. Other researchers have demonstrated that CO has negative health and societal effects on conditions like asthma, cancer, and diabetes (Caird et al., 2011).

Individuals find the physiological and psychological impacts of childhood obesity to be the most strange. Studies have shown that childhood obesity has more severe effects on both people and their societies. Obesity has an impact on the physical and social wellbeing of children as well as their self-esteem, according to Sahoo et al. (2017). Scholars claim that this development harms children's academic achievement as well as their overall quality of life. According to Counchonnal et al. (2015), children with obesity have a higher likelihood of missing lessons, doing poorly in school, struggling to build strong self-esteem, and experiencing bullying from their peers who are healthy weights. Obesity and financial hardship are increasingly linked, which is made feasible by the condition's increased medical costs (Warren, Becks, and Delgado, 2019). Opportunities are being hampered by this development, which affects people and communities more and more.

In the United States, where obesity is linked to children from specific social, racial, and economic strata, cases of subpar academic achievement and low self-esteem are reflected. Childhood obesity has a significant negative impact on entire communities due to increased healthcare expenditures, decreased academic achievement, and decreased worker productivity (Center for Child and Family Policy, Duke University, 2011). Poor sociability has been identified as a significant imminent element in this direction. In the United States, ethnic groups and communities are known to experience poor scholastic achievement and, as a result, poor employment opportunities. This point of view is consistent with the assertion made by Caird et al. (2011) that impacts of obesity on people and the general population at large are not yet properly researched. The significant financial burden that childhood obesity places on governments and individuals is one of its growing effects. Globally, adult obesity is projected by WHO (2017) to cost \$2.0 trillion annually. Counchonnal et al. (2015) projected that by the year 2030, the state of Missouri is expected to allocate \$12 billion each year for obesityrelated healthcare costs, attributing these expenses to the trends in childhood obesity. The health consequences of childhood obesity and the significant burden it places on society were noted by Karimy et al. (2019), who proposed that managing and preventing it is a crucial objective for all nations.

Childhood Obesity in the United States

Many studies have extensively examined the problem of childhood obesity in the United States. Williams and Greene (2018) have contributed significantly to this area of research, leading to a vital conclusion that childhood obesity in the US is indeed a significant and concerning problem. While Gies (2017) stated that obesity in children had reached alarming rates and was now parents' top health concern, exceeding smoking and drug use. In the United States, the prevalence of obesity shows variations concerning various demographic factors, such as sex, ethnicity, education, income, and geographical location. As with several other health indicators, racial and ethnic differences are among the most notable contributors to the pronounced disparities observed in obesity rates (Warren, Becks, and Delgado, 2019). In the US, childhood obesity is still mostly a societal concern. Williams and Greene (2018) noted that while minority cultures and other locations may not always appreciate a healthy body weight, the majority of cultures in many American regions place a high priority on making sure that their children are not

obese.

Over 100 million Americans, or one-third of all Americans, have obesity-related issues right now (Warren, Becks, & Delgado, 2019). The country has seen a 70% increase in obesity levels in the last 30 years (1988–2016), and the childhood obesity rate has increased by 85% during the same period. Over half of the states in the U.S.—33 saw increases in their obesity rates from 2013 to 2018 that were statistically significant, according to Warren, Becks, and Delgado (2019). Positively, there was a substantial drop in the proportion of inactive people between 2017 and 2018 in 30 states. However, childhood obesity rates in the US continue to increase, many academics still contend that it is a socioeconomic class issue (Ruiz, 2016, Anderson, Butcher, and Schanzenbach, 2019). Accordingly, Warren, Becks, and Delgado (2019) assert that despite obesity being a widespread health problem that affects all populations, its prevalence is higher in those groups where societal and economic factors limit health disparities. The statistics on adult and pediatric obesity demonstrate racial disparities. In 2015-2016, more than half of Black adults and Latino adults (46.8%) and (47%) respectively were reported obese. This indicates a significant 24% higher than the rate for White people (37.9%).

With such a visible tendency in children's obesity rates, Latino children rate (25.8%), Black children's rate (22%), and White children rate (14.1%) in terms of prevalence. The impediments to healthy behavior that contribute to poverty and obesity are identified as racism and other types of prejudice. With the constant increase between early childhood and teenage hood, childhood obesity rates showed a huge problem in a population as adult obesity was demonstrated to be a corollary of being overweight in

childhood (Anderson, Butcher, and Schanzenbach,2019). Hence, targeted deterrence geared toward helping families gain access to healthy nutrition and play areas remains strategic in America's drives to end the problem of obesity (Center for Child and Family Policy, Duke University, 2011 & Lynch, et al., 2012).

According to research undertaken by Craig et al. (2017), from 2004 to 2014, adult obesity increased in the United States at a consistent rate across all racial and ethnic groups. According to the survey, 39.8% of adults in the U.S. were obese. In general, adults between the ages of 40 to 59 years had a 42.8% obesity rate. Those aged between 20 to 39 years were at (35.7%. Adults between the age of 60 years and above stood at 41.0%. At the individual, community, and national levels, obesity hurts Americans. These obesity rates have heightened the chances of physical and mental disease. Also, premature death. Furthermore, these high rates resulted in reduced productivity and increased healthcare cost. Consequently, this trend significantly impacted the nation's military capacity and response to threats (Warren, Becks, and Delgado, 2019).

Preschool Obesity

Children, one of society's most prized resources, are in danger due to the childhood obesity (CO) epidemic (Parliament et al., 2016). Every child's 0–6-year-old years are the most crucial for their physical, psychological, and social development (Sahoo et al., 2015; di Cesara et al., 2019). According to Gies et al. (2017), the first 3 years of life are a crucial time when children's unmet dietary demands may negatively affect their short- and long-term health and physical development, particularly their psychomotor ability. The risk of being fat, according to Counchonnal et al. (2015), begins

in early childhood, while behaviors and dispositions are still developing. As a result, the implications of preschool obesity are important for public health practice and policy.

There is a rise in preschool obesity in the United States. Gies (2017) observed that compared to their normal-weight peers, pres-choolers aged between 2-5 years who are obese are five times more likely to experience the same at the age of 12 years. Studies indicate that childhood obesity is on the rise at a rate of 13.9%, which is slightly lower than the rates observed among school-aged children (18.4%) and teenagers (20.6%). Moreover, adolescent girls (20.9%) show a higher prevalence of obesity compared to preschool girls (13.5%), while school-aged boys (20.4%) have a higher prevalence than preschool boys (14.3%). The trends in childhood obesity have been progressively worsening, as highlighted by Butcher and Schanzenbach (2019) and Kandasami and Arunachalam (2019). Additionally, it has been noted that nearly 65% of mothers with preschool-aged children were not aware of childhood obesity as a health issue. According to a study by Moshinga et al. (2017), overweight pre-schoolers in Zimbabwe are a result of inadequate nutrition education and a lack of awareness of how to moderate eating behaviors. Arunachalam and Kandasami (2019) assert that parental obesity-related behaviors contribute to childhood obesity because parents play an important role in their children, especially young children. The academics argued that early infancy is a crucial time for a child's development and is therefore essential for carrying out an intervention to prevent CO.

Parenting Care: Mothers and Childhood Obesity

Studies have tried to explain how moms may contribute to and control childhood

obesity. Arunachalam and Kandasami (2019) used 120 mothers of obese children to study the attitudes of obese mothers toward childhood obesity, its causes, and control and concluded that to effectively deter obesity, both the mother and the child need to have a positive attitude toward obesity and its prevention. Similar findings were made by Karimy et al. (2019), who discovered a strong connection between mothers' views and healthy bodies. According to Belser et al. (2019), it is crucial for mothers of obese children to regularly collaborate with nutrition educators, other health professionals, and professional school counselors in some form of workshop because children, as their parents, should be informed about the role of healthy diets and habits. Parents' lack of awareness of childhood obesity poses a serious obstacle to intervention because obesity and other signs of ill health may be mistaken for a sign of a healthy lifestyle (Arunachalam and Kandasami, 2019).

Blanchette, Lemoyne, and Trudeau (2019) contend that parental participation is essential for influencing children's healthy lifestyles. This is because parenting entails actions like teaching, rewarding good behavior, and setting an example for children, all of which have an impact on their eating habits and physical activity levels. Children adopt their parents' lifestyles for eating and living in general. Therefore, addressing the issue of childhood obesity will only be effective with active parental involvement. This is because proactive parents are still essential for comprehending the components and dynamics of disease development, identifying these contributing factors, and actively changing their behavior and that of their children (Pakpour, Yekaninejad, & Chens, 2011). Therefore, Warren, Becks, and Delgado (2019) recognize that it's critical to give priority to those people and places with alarming rates of obesity and, historically, minimal institutional intervention when thinking about additional policies and initiatives. Concentrating on these neighborhoods is both an issue of equity and provides the best chance for advancement.

The need of educating women in Iran to improve their living habits and attitudes toward managing their children's weight was highlighted by Karimy's (2019) study. Mushonga et al. (2017) evaluated parental knowledge and attitudes toward children's nutritional condition in the Mashonaland East Province of Zimbabwe. The results show that parents have a big impact on how their kids establish their eating habits and food preferences. Given that parents serve as examples for children's eating behaviors, parents' knowledge of and attitudes toward nutrition play a significant effect in children's development. The study demonstrates a strong correlation between parents' educational attainment and their knowledge of nutrition. Notably, there was a strong relationship between food consumption and acquired knowledge.

Additionally, 0.4% of the parents had adequate food intake scores and had strong nutrition knowledge. According to this study, the majority of parents (83.4%) were aware of the idea of a balanced diet. 72% of the parents had food intake scores that ranged from poor to borderline, hence this did not convert into actual behavior.

Ruiz (2016) uses extensive prospective data collected from 11 European cohorts involving over 45 thousand children to examine the relationship between poor maternal education and the likelihood of being overweight or obese. It involved children between the ages of 4 to 7 years from various European settings during early childhood. The results showed that from all the 11 European nations, inadequate maternal education was associated with a significant risk of early childhood obesity. According to the study, moms with greater levels of education can lessen their children's vulnerability to the elements that cause childhood obesity. This is accomplished by improving appropriate parenting techniques, expanding access to and ownership of family-friendly neighborhoods, and lowering deprivation. Contrarily, it was discovered that low maternal education is linked to maternal characteristics that are indicative of the onset of obesity in children. These include smoking during pregnancy, limited breastfeeding, insufficient dietary consumption of food, and psychological issues linked to family backgrounds (Ruiz, 2016).

In their investigation of the role played by a mother's education in preventing and treating childhood obesity, Belser et al. (2019) emphasized the value of psychological educative programs for parents and families in the school curriculum. Paying attention to food labels, understanding, and adhering to dietary guidelines. Also, encouraging the child to be more involved in physical activities, shopping for reasonably priced, nutrient-dense foods, and developing awareness of the dangers of obesity are all suggested as potential topics for parent workshops (Belser et al.). Lynch et al. (2012) make an argument about the importance of parents in curbing and control of childhood obesity. The claim asserts that parents hold the most significant psychosocial influence in the lives of preteen children. By collaborating with parents and enhancing their knowledge and skills, it is possible to foster healthier lifestyles for children, reducing the risk of obesity, and yielding various other positive outcomes.

Managing Childhood Obesity

Despite the recognition of childhood obesity as a mounting threat to the American population, addressing the issue remains challenging. Warren, Becks, and Delgado (2019) propose that combating childhood obesity requires addressing broader social determinants of health, including physical activeness, access to healthy food, and opportunities for education among others. These factors are influenced by institutional racism and national poverty which impacts lifestyle choices concerning the prevalence and repercussions of childhood obesity. Thus, to effectively combat obesity, comprehension of the various factors that contribute to its prevalence is a must. Also, taking steps to address them, such as resolving historical injustices and underinvesting in areas where resources are scarce and promoting culturally appropriate, healthy lifestyle choices for individuals (Warren, Becks, and Delgado, 2019). Education continues to be an effective component in this direction. The stakeholders in this issue including children, parents, institutions, authorities, and society must act accordingly (Williams and Greene, 2018).

According to WHO (2017), to combat childhood obesity, providing the right education is a must. That is, to children, their parents, and teachers, about issues such as healthy lifestyles, physical activeness, and other habits. The body reaffirmed the need for whole-school programs and peer education to impact physical activeness in children and other social norms to accomplish this. In its 2019 recommendation to address global overweight and childhood obesity issues, UNICEF suggested conducting a situation analysis alongside a stakeholder analysis. The purpose of this analysis is to identify the key actors involved in the increase in childhood overweight and those relevant to the prevention of childhood overweight. Additionally, UNICEF emphasized other crucial actions to be taken in tackling the problem of childhood overweight and obesity worldwide. A crucial step is the creation of alliances with the major players for cooperative advocacy and the orchestrated efforts involving the phenomenon. While stressing the importance of mothers' education continues to be crucial and essential to the success of these suggestions.

According to Warren, Becks, and Delgado (2019), to effectively reach those who are most in need, it is imperative to implement educational and policy-based interventions. Also, practice-based interventions that target all cultures, healthcare systems, regions, as well as socioeconomic levels. This is crucial because the impacts of overweight and obesity on the health outcomes of children and adolescents affect everyone, necessitating a comprehensive and inclusive approach to address the issue. The role of the family has been demonstrated to be the primary focus of worldwide concerns and efforts to prevent childhood obesity (WHO, 2017, UNICEF, 2017). Parents play a vital role as role models for their children, starting at home, school, and in the community (Arunachalam and Kandasami, 2019). Research on the influence of a mother's knowledge on interventions in Iran, Pakpour, Yekaninejad, and Chen (2011) discovered that pre-existing knowledge that mothers possessed and their income levels were key to identifying and mitigating the issues of obesity in their children. When compared to moms who did not receive any intervention, the educational intervention dramatically increased mothers' capacity to recognize childhood obesity.

Harper (2012) conducted a study on intervention strategies for childhood obesity and found that a combination of family-based and school-based approaches, such as parental training and nutrition education as well as promoting physical activities, proved effective in decreasing weight in children and adolescents. Similarly, Blancette et al., (2019) conducted a qualitative study and discovered that parents preferred a multifaceted health approach to keep track of their children's health, and parents of obese kids in organized groups recognized the importance of their role in transforming their family's lifestyle. Harper (2014) emphasized that each scenario and situation is different, and so is the treatment for every obese child. Effective primary prevention approaches require parental knowledge, attitudes, and family commitment, as mentioned by Arunachalam and Kandasami (2019). In line with this, Warren, Becks, and Delgado (2019) asserted that all Americans should have the ability to arrive at healthy decisions for their families, irrespective of their location, income, or racial and ethnic background. Communities must assist them in accomplishing this by providing creative services and activities.

Summary of Literature

The main focus of this chapter is to review the literature used for research on childhood obesity. The body of research demonstrates that childhood obesity, or the tendency for children's adiposity to rise, remains a widespread issue. Both developed and developing nations are impacted. Environmental factors override inherited ones as the main causes. The effects, which are particularly harmful to youngsters, can be seen in both a community's and a country's successful living and growth. Childhood obesity rates has been on the rise in the United States over the past 20 years, despite the state's endorsement and execution of numerous intervention programs.

The deep relationships between the disease and the economic, social environment, and health have made tackling obesity in children a complex and challenging issue for states and healthcare professionals. Families and parents, particularly educated mothers, were portrayed as being essential to the success of interventions in both rich and developing nations. To close the knowledge gap on the consequences of education and racial disparities in the care and maintenance of this problem, this study emphasizes these perceptions in the exploration of these facts connected to maternal education, income, and race in the progression of CO in Broward County.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The research methodology, sample size, research objectives, researcher role, participant selection processes, data collection processes, instrumentation, and data analysis strategy are all covered in this chapter. The safety of human test participants will also be covered.

Research Design and Approach

The study has a descriptive and an evaluation component. A survey research design was chosen as the study's organizational and methodological framework since a survey is a type of research that enables the data collection from significant samples (Harrell & Bradley, 2005). The objectives of using a survey are to depict trends of phenomena under inquiry. Importantly, survey data enable statistical testing on the assumptions and the interpretation of the assumptions, such as logistic regression analysis. In general, surveys are a type of research methodology for gathering significant amounts of varied data from a wide range of geographic regions.

The Role of the Researcher

I was the lead investigator, creating the research topic for the study and being in charge of its overall direction, data collection, and adherence to the project's ethical standards. Following the study objectives and hypotheses, the researcher controls the data collection process and procedure. I analyzed and interpreted the data collected and reported the study's findings.

Setting

This research was carried out in Broward County. In Broward County, Florida,

there are 1,952,778 inhabitants living in nine districts, 31 municipalities, and 24 incorporated cities. The county's population is made up of 62.3% White people, 17.1% Hispanic people, 30% African Americans, 5.07% Asian people, 2.20% people of two or more races, 0.66% Native Americans, 0.16% Pacific Islanders, together with 0.20% people of other races. With 64.44% of the population speaking English, it was the most common language in the county. After the Miami-Dade system, the county's school district is the largest in the state and the sixth largest in the nation. The poverty rate in this county is 12.3% for all ages, and the typical household income is \$71,206, as for educational attainment, bachelor's degrees and above account for 32.4% of those aged 25 years and above who hold a diploma for high school or higher education (Florida Legislature, 2021). There are signs that some areas of the county have higher rates of obesity in comparison to others (Health Foundation of South Florida, 2020). This area served as a testing ground for the study assumptions using the data that was gathered. Data for the study were gathered in several randomly chosen locations, including Weston, Miramar, Fort Lauderdale, North Lauderdale, Lighthouse Points, Parkland Hollywood, Copper City.

Methodology

Study Sample

Five hundred eleven (511) respondents agreed to participate in the survey. In Broward County, Florida, there are about 31,277 children who are obese (Health, 2020). All mothers who have or have had a child in the last 9 years are included in the study's sample.

Recruitment Procedures

The participants in the study were attracted through an advert for the study approved by IRB Walden University. The adverts were placed in communities, schools, and recreational parks. The advert described the study and directed interested participants to contact me for the study.

Data Collection Process and Procedures

Data were collected in the study through both direct administered questionnaires. Subjects who contacted me through the advert were given the instrument of study to fill out and return for storage and processing. Community organizations, schools, recreational parks and centers, and CO intervention coordinators also helped to refer people for the study.

Instrumentation

The study adopted Harper's (2014) Need Assessment for Childhood Obesity Intervention Program and the San Jose Mercury (2004) Survey on CO questionnaires, improvising on selected items in these tools to cater to the objectives of the research. The final study questionnaire was close-ended in nature and divided into three sections for child/children anthropometrics and the social demography of samples, which included critical data points such as sex, income, BMI, districts, level of education, and the number of obese children.

Data Analysis Plan

Filled questionnaires returned to me were immediately entered into a spreadsheet. Codes were applied to the subject's entries and the subject's responses. The aggregate of the responses was later processed in the computer through the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS), which elicited the descriptive data developed to test the assumption of the study using logistic regressions. These processed data constitute findings presented and interpreted in Chapter 4.

Threats to Validity

Ethical Human Protection

Human subject protection has been cited as a sign of the validity of the conclusions (Connelly, 2014). As a result, while carrying out the study, the Walden University IRB requirements and ethnic considerations were both followed. An advertisement for the study included a clear description of the study, its purposes, and detailed consent to participate in the study. Only subjects who indicated interest and contacted me and consented to participate were included. All through and after the study, participants' confidentiality is maintained through no exposure and nondisclosure of identity. The identification of participants with numbers is tagged on the instrument.

Summary

The research was carried out in Broward County, Florida. Different methods of research were put into use and data was collected from various subjects. The survey research involved tactics such as the use of questionnaires in the collection of data. Chapter 4 discusses more about the findings from the research.

Chapter 4: **Results**

This study involved examining the relationship between income, race, and level of a parent's education in tackling the issues of childhood obesity in Broward County, Florida. After IRB approval, fieldwork on a sample of 511 was administered with the instrument of study. This chapter presents and analyzes the data collected from the study. The chapter was developed from the collation, cleaning, sorting, and categorization of the 511 questionnaires returned by the respondents. The chapter is in two sections. The first part deals with descriptive data gleaned from the study, which illustrates the phenomena of childhood obesity in Broward County. The next section demonstrates the implications of the descriptive data from the point of view of the studies y's' assumptions tested using logistic regression.

Descriptive Analysis

This section presents the descriptive statistics of items in the questionnaire; frequency and percentages are used to describe categorical variables. Table 1 depicts the age distribution of respondents in the study. It shows that mothers between ages 20–25 years and 26–30 years combined were 44% of the subjects of the study. This age group defines crucial and delicate stages in motherhood in the United States as its earliest stage in adolescence on its economic and social implications. Therefore, most of the mothers in the study are younger, whose experience caring for obese children needed monitoring and reinforcing for the utmost result in the control of obesity in the state.

Table 1

Variable	Category	Frequency	Percent
Age group	20 - 25 years old	113	22.1
	26 - 30 years old	114	22.3
	31 - 35 years old	193	37.8
	36 - 40 years old	68	13.3
	41 years old or older	23	4.5
	Total	511	100.0

Table 2 demonstrates the race distribution of the subjects of the study. The implication of this data is largely related to the experiences of the Hispanic/Latino, non-Hispanic, as well as Hispanic Blacks and do not justify the occurrence of CO, which is not the focus of the study. That makes the experiences of the Pacific islander, Native Americans, and other races, as indicated in the study, relevant, especially concerning the application and implication of the theoretical social learning theory as the standpoint of the study.

Table 2

Variable	Category	Frequency	Percent
Race	Hispanic/Latino	161	31.5
	Non-Hispanic Black	112	21.9
	Non-Hispanic White	126	24.7
	Pacific Islander	46	9.0
	Native American	43	8.4
	Other	23	4.5
	Total	511	100.0

Race Distribution of Participants

Table 3 displays the educational status of respondents.

Table 3

Participants'	Level of	^c Education
---------------	----------	------------------------

Variable	Category	Frequency	Percent
Highest education completed	Below High School	113	22.1
	Some High School	130	25.4
	High School Graduate/GED	126	24.7
	Attended college/Associate	72	14.1
	Degree		
	Bachelors Degree	47	9.2
	Masters Degree or higher	23	4.5
	Total	511	100.0

Table 4 demonstrates the level of income reported by respondents. Most of the respondents' income is \$50,001 to \$75,000 (31%). In simple terms, most of the respondents (in sum 79%) earned \$25,000 or less than \$75,000. This is followed by respondents who earned \$100,000–\$150,000 or more, at a combined 21%. The implication of income to care, management, and control of CO have been demonstrated as crucial (Bandura, 2002).

Table 4

Income	Distributi	on for H	Participants
--------	------------	----------	--------------

Variable	Category	Frequency	Percent
Income category	\$25,000 or less	110	21.5
	\$25,001 - \$50,000	134	26.2
	\$50,001 - \$75,000	158	30.9
	\$75,001 - \$100,000	46	9.0
	\$100,001 - \$150,000	43	8.4
	\$150,001 or more	20	3.9
	Total	511	100.0

Most of the respondents, ninety-seven percent were informed of their children being obese with time under study. Only three percent of the respondents reported otherwise. The significance of this finding is the relativity of data to establish the validity, reliability, and generality of the experiences with CO in the study area of Broward County, Florida.

In terms of the children's gender distribution, most of the respondents reported having female children as against male children. The data 54% (female) and 46% (male) is used in this data for both nominal and ordinal consideration of subjects' children. The purpose of the study is to indicate the implications of race, income, and maternal education on the reduction of obesity in children in the study area without demarcation based on gender. Hence, though 96% of the mother ever being informed by professionals of obesity in their children, the results did not suggest prevalence in the subject's children based on gender but the natural demographic composition of children in the respondents as studied.

Hypotheses Testing

Logistic regression was applied in the study to measure the level of correlation between a mother's education, income, and race with the reduction of CO in Broward Country, Florida; a 5% level of significance was used throughout the analysis. A Hosmer and Lemeshow test, which investigates if the logistic regression model is significant, produced the following results: chi-square = 59.700, df = 7, and significant = .000. If the *p*-value of the test (p < 0.001) is less than 0.05, this implies that the model is significant, and therefore fit for use.

It can be observed from Table 5 that the *p*-value of the correlation between maternal education and the reduction of CO is $0.030 \ (p < 0.05)$, hence the first null hypothesis is rejected, and meaning there is a strong correlation between maternal

education and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida. The analysis revealed that mothers who attended college/associate degree are four times more likely to have a reduction of CO than mothers who have qualifications below high school, and mothers with bachelor's degree are two-and-a-half times more likely, whereas mothers who have attended some high school or have master's degree or higher are less likely to experience a reduction of CO than those with qualification below high school.

Table 5

Logistic Regression Model

								95% (CI for
								EXF	P (B)
		В	SE	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Step 1 ^a	highest education completed ^b			12.386	5	.030			
•	Some High School	-1.065	1.293	.678	1	.410	.345	.027	4.348
	High School Graduate/GED	.624	.713	.768	1	.381	1.867	.462	7.545
	Attended college/Associate	1.376	.493	7.798	1	.005	3.960	1.507	10.40
	Degree								2
	Bachelors Degree	.938	.959	.956	1	.328	2.555	.390	16.75
									3
	Masters Degree of higher	-1.445	1.736	.693	1	.405	.236	.008	7.077
	Income category ^c			11.759	5	.038			
	\$25,001 to \$50,000	1.539	.762	4.077	1	.043	4.660	1.046	20.76
									1
	\$50,001 to \$75,000	2.257	.854	6.986	1	.008	9.551	1.792	50.91
									1
	\$75,001 to \$100,000	.366	.802	.208	1	.648	1.442	.299	6.946
	\$100,001 to \$150,000	.239	.624	.146	1	.702	1.270	.374	4.314
	\$150,001 or more	.005	1.224	.000	1	.997	1.005	.091	11.07
									2
	Race/Ethnicity ^d			41.188	4	.000			
	Non-Hispanic Black	-3.772	.654	33.258	1	.000	.023	.006	.083
	Non-Hispanic White	621	.840	.547	1	.460	.538	.104	2.786
	Pacific Islander	2.985	1.111	7.220	1	.007	19.793	2.243	174.6
									78
	Native American	.644	.783	.676	1	.411	1.905	.410	8.844
	Constant	728	.267	7.438	1	.006	.483		

a. Variable(s) entered on step 1: Highest education completed, Income category, Race/Ethnicity.

b. reference category is Below High School

c. reference category is \$25,000 or less

d. reference category is Hispanic/Latino

The p-value of the association between the mother's income and the reduction of CO is 0.038 (p < 0.05), which leads to the rejection of the second null hypothesis and the conclusion that there is a significant association between the mother's income and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida. The analysis showed that mothers with income between \$50,000 to \$75,000 are nine-and-a-half times more likely to have a reduction of CO than mothers with income of \$25,000 or less, and those with income between \$25,000 to \$50,000 are four-and-a-half times more likely, whereas mothers with income above \$75,000 are equally likely to have a reduction of CO with those who have an income of \$25,000 or less.

Further, the *p*-value of the association between race and the reduction of CO is $< 0.001 \ (p < 0.05)$, hence the third null hypothesis is rejected, and there is a significant association between race and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida. It is observed from the analysis that Pacific Islander mothers are 20 times more likely to have a reduction of CO than Hispanic/Latino mothers, Native American mothers are two times more likely, whereas non-Hispanic Black mothers are significantly less likely to have a reduction of CO, non-Hispanic White mothers are equally likely to have a reduction of CO than with Hispanic/Latino mothers.

Summary

In this chapter, we got to understand the relationship between obesity and other factors. Since it is mostly observed in children, females are the most affected at fifty-six percent as compared to the male at forty-four percent. Other factors contributing to

obesity such as income and age brackets have also been discussed here.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

This chapter sums up the philosophical, methodological, and empirical progression of this study, which was conducted to examine the association between income, race, and level of mothers' education in decreasing of childhood obesity rate in Broward County, Florida. In addition, the study concludes based on the data collected and analyzed and recommends further empirical works to build on the limitations in the scope of this study.

Interpretation of the Findings

This study was conducted on the understanding that CO remains a global public health concern despite several social, economic, and technological improvements associated with health care in the 21st century. CO is increasing in both developed and developing countries. Populations in developed countries such as England, Europe, Canada, and the United States are increasingly affected by the condition despite food and health services improvements. Though CO has continued to increase in the United States—a development that constantly challenges policymakers, pediatricians, educators, and parents—the state of Florida has had a reduction in CO prevalence, placing the state at 34 of 51 in the 2–4 obesity ranking, as reported by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation. Hence, this study was conducted to review the reduction in rates of CO in Florida relating to race, income, families, and other forms of characteristics for a precise understanding of the reduction in the phenomena. This effort could allow precise isolations of important factors and variable family management of obesity supporting the reduction trends and how these could be shared on the importance of the social learning theory. To this end, the following hypotheses were postulated:

 There is no association between maternal education and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida.

There is no association between the mother's income and the reduction of
 CO in Broward County, Florida.

3. There is no association between race and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida.

The survey attracted 511 respondents who filled out and returned the questionnaire (see Appendix). Respondents were then introduced to the study consent forms to learn and understand the ethical implications of their participation and consent to the study or otherwise. The 511 returned questionnaires were stored and processed by me using SPSS. SPSS was employed to sort and categorize the collected data for both descriptive (percentages, frequencies, bar chart, pie chart) and inferential (logistical regression) examinations and interpretations. The data presented in Chapter 4 and the results of the test of the hypothesis made in this study led to the rejection of the null hypotheses.

The findings indicated that there is a significant correlation between maternal education and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida. The analysis revealed that mothers who attended college/associate degree are four times more likely to have a reduction of CO than mothers who have qualifications below high school, and mothers with bachelor's degree are two-and-a-half times more likely, whereas mothers who have attended some high school or have master's degree or higher are less likely to experience a reduction of CO than those with qualification below high school.

The finding also showed a significant association between a mother's income and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida. The analysis showed that mothers with income between \$50,000 to \$75,000 are nine-and-a-half times more likely to have a reduction of CO than mothers with income of \$25,000 or less, and those with income between \$25,000 to \$50,000 are four-and-a-half times more likely, whereas mothers with income above \$75,000 are equally likely to have a reduction of CO with those that have an income of \$25,000 or less.

Further, there is a significant correlation between race and the reduction of CO in Broward County, Florida. It is observed from the analysis that Pacific Islander mothers are 20 times more likely to have a reduction of CO than Hispanics/Latino mothers, Native American mothers are two times more likely, whereas Non-Hispanic Black mothers are significantly less likely to have a reduction of CO, and non-Hispanic White mothers are equally likely to have a reduction of child obesity than with Hispanic/Latino mothers. Finally, there is a significant correlation between mothers' education and the BMI of children in the years under review in Broward County, Florida.

Recommendation for Further Studies

This study has identified the gap in the data available on the tackling of CO in the study area as dependent on race, income, and level of education. While being a preliminary study conceived in quantitative methodology, a more mixed mode (quantitative and qualitative) of research is suggested to expand the front of this study in specific precincts regarding the demographic reduction of the phenomena of childhood obesity. It is perceived that future adoption of methodological triangulation will help balance and reinforce weaknesses each of the methodologies contains when deployed to such CO.

Policy Recommendations

One of the policy recommendations from the study is Broward County public health administration encouragement of the formation of cross-racial associations of mothers with obese children. This will support networking, advocacy, and social learning for the county's utmost management and control of CO. As this study shows, most of the mothers in the study are younger, whose experiences caring for obese children needed monitoring and reinforcing for the results in controlling obesity in the state. In addition, public health experts in the county should be motivated to develop multiracial programs to enhance community exchanges in capacities to maintain the state of Florida's resilience reduction of CO.

Access to high education remains challenging for many in the United States. Many couples enter into parenthood with limited education and life exposure. Broward County and non-government organizations could strategize for the continuous reduction of CO in the county through the expansion of opportunism and support for both prospecting mothers and mothers of children with CO. The county should also have strategies for improving and reducing the income gap among the population. Care for CO has been documented to be income dependent. Cross-racial families and mothers with assured and adequate income will be adequately ready in the care and fight against CO. Further, Florida could support CO reduction in its counties by incorporating food and beverage companies in support of the association of mothers of obsessed children toward enhancing cross-racial social learning of care and management of CO.

Implications for Social Change

This empirical study has demonstrated that reductions in CO rates in Broward County, Florida are associated with race, income, and level of education. The study demonstrated the limits of mothers' education to the reduction of CO and the potential for both public/state and private leverage on such to build experiences and programs to enhance community capacity to fight and halt CO in the state of Florida. Where the county depicts a prosperous region in the state of Florida with diverse ethnic coloration, such a tendency can be useful as a control strategy through some well-thought-out policies, programs, and networking, as inferred from the capacity of SLT used in this study as the point of reference.

Conclusion

This study affirms that CO remains a recurrent health phenomenon in the sample studied. Nevertheless, CO in the study area relates largely to the experiences of Hispanic/Latino, non-Hispanic, and non-Hispanic Black mothers. When compared with the experiences of the Pacific Islander and Native American mothers, the within-race and racial justify the need and efficacy of SLT as a frame that could be explored in networking toward control of CO in the state of Florida and beyond. In addition, a diverse level of education qualifications among mothers with CO remains an explorable resource to leverage in the fight against CO.

References

Anderson, E. S., Winett, R. A., & Wojcik, J. R. (2007). Self-regulation, self-efficacy, outcome expectations, and social support: social cognitive theory and nutrition behavior. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *34*(3), 304–312.
<u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF02874555</u>Anderson, P. M, Butcher, & Schanzenbach, D.W. (2019) Understanding recent trends in childhood obesity in the United States. *Economics and Human Biology*, *34*,16–25.
<u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1570677X18302429</u>Aris, K. (2019). *African American parents' perception of childhood obesity in Broward County* [Doctoral dissertation, Walden University].
<u>https://search.proquest.com/openview/bb4b65cd2d28e323cf8170d1d5c6b89b/1?p</u> q-origsite=gscholar&cbl=18750&diss=y

Bailey, L. C., Forrest, C. B., Zhang, P., Richards, T. M., Livshits, A., & DeRusso, P. A.
(2014). Association of antibiotics in infancy with early childhood obesity. *JAMA Pediatrics*, *168*(11), 1063–1069.

https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamapediatrics/article-abstract/1909801

Bandura, A. (1991). Social cognitive theory of self-regulation. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 248–287.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/074959789190022L

Bandura, A. (1998). Health promotion from the perspective of social cognitive theory. *Psychology and Health.* 13, 623–649.

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/08870449808407422Bandura, A.

(2002). Social cognitive theory in a cultural context. *Applied Psychology*, 51(2),
269–290. <u>https://iaap-journals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/1464-</u>
0597.00092

- Bickman, L., Rog, D. J., & Hedrick, T. E. (2009). Applied research design: A practical approach. *Handbook of Applied Social Research Methods*, 2, 3–43.
- Carter, M. A., & Dubois, L. (2010). Neighborhoods and child adiposity: A critical appraisal of the literature. *Health Place*, *16*(3), 616–628.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1353829209001567

Connelly, L. M. (2014). Ethical considerations in research studies. *Medsurg Nursing*, 23(1), 54–56.

https://go.gale.com/ps/i.do?id=GALE%7CA360608990&sid=googleScholar&v=2

.1&it=r&linkaccess=abs&iss

De Vaus, D. (2001). Research design in social research. Sage.

https://www.torrossa.com/gs/resourceProxy?an=5018378&publisher=FZ7200

- Ells, L. J., & Summerbell, C. (2005). Prevention of childhood obesity. Best practices and research. *Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 19(3), 441–454. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1521690X05000400
- Félix-Brasdefer, J. C. (2010). Data collection methods in speech act performance. Speech Act Performance: Theoretical, Empirical and Methodological Issues, 26(41), 69– 82.

https://www.torrossa.com/gs/resourceProxy?an=5016137&publisher=FZ4850#pa ge=56 Franks, P. W., Hanson, R. L., Knowler, W. C., Sievers, M. L., Bennett, P. H., & Looker, H. C. (2010). Childhood obesity, other cardiovascular risk factors, and premature death. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *362*(6), 485–493.
<u>https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/nejmoa0904130</u>

Galvez, M. P., Pearl, M., & Yen, I. H. (2010). Childhood obesity and the built environment: A review of the literature from 2008-2009. *Current Opinion in Pediatrics*, 22(2), 202–207.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2896907/

- Garrouste-Orgeas, M., Troché, G., Azoulay, E., Caubel, A., de Lassence, A., Cheval, C., Montesino, L., Thuong, M., Vincent, F., Choen, Y., & Timsit, J.-F. (2004). Body mass index. *Intensive Care Medicine*, 30(3), 437–443. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/14767583/</u>
- Gray, L. A., Hernandez, A. M., Kelly, M. P., & Campbell, M. J. (2018). Family lifestyle dynamics and childhood obesity: evidence from the millennium cohort study. *BMC Public Health*, 18(1), 500.

https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-018-5398-5

- Guinhouya, B. C. (2012). Physical activity in the prevention of childhood obesity. *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology*, 26(5), 438–447.
 https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1365-3016.2012.01269.x
- Gupta, N., Goel, K., Shah, P., & Misra, A. (2012). Childhood obesity in developing countries: epidemiology, determinants, and prevention. *Endocrine Reviews*, 33(1), 48–70. <u>https://academic.oup.com/edrv/article-abstract/33/1/48/2354800</u>

- Gurnani, M., Birken, C., & Hamilton, J. (2015). Childhood obesity: Causes, consequences, and management. *Pediatric Clinics*, 62(4), 821–840. <u>https://www.pediatric.theclinics.com/article/S0031-3955(15)00041-3/abstract</u>
- Hajian-Tilaki, K., & Heidari, B. (2013). Childhood obesity, overweight, sociodemographic and lifestyle determinants among preschool children in Babol, northern Iran. *Iranian journal of public health*, 42(11), 1283–1291.
 <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4499070/</u>
- Hales, C. M., Carroll, M. D., Fryar, C. D., & Ogden, C. L. (2017). Prevalence of obesity among adults and youth: The United States, 2015–2016. NCHS Data Brief, 1–8. <u>https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/49223</u>
- Han, J. C., Lawlor, D. A., & Kimm, S. Y. (2010). Childhood obesity. *The Lancet*, *375*(9727), 1737-1748.

https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(10)60171-

<u>7/fulltext</u>

- Harper, K.R. (2014) Need Assessment for Childhood Obesity Intervention Program.
 (Masters of Science Degree thesis, graduate faculty, university of Georgia)
 https://getd.libs.uga.edu/pdfs/harper_kristin_r_201408_ms.pdf
- Harrell, M. C., & Bradley, M. A. (2009). Data collection methods. Semi-structured interviews and focus groups. Rand National Defense Research Inst Santa Monica ca. <u>https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/tr/ADA512853</u>
- Hill, M. (2005). Ethical considerations in researching children's

experiences. Researching children's experience: Approaches and methods, 86.

https://www.torrossa.com/gs/resourceProxy?an=4913086&publisher=FZ7200#pa ge=76

- Hruby, A. and Hu, F.B. (2015). The epidemiology of obesity: A big picture. *Pharmacoeconomics*, 33, 673-689.
 https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40273-014-0243-x
- Keener, D., Goodman, K., Lowry, A., Zaro, S., & Kettel Khan, L. (2009). *Recommended community strategies and measurements to prevent obesity in the United States: Implementation and measurement guide*. Atlanta, GA: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/24842369</u>
- Kumar, S., & Kelly, A. S. (2017, February). Review of childhood obesity: from epidemiology, etiology, and comorbidities to clinical assessment and treatment. In *Mayo Clinic Proceedings* (Vol. 92, No. 2, pp. 251-265). Elsevier. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S002561961630595X

Lakshman, R., Elks, C. E., & Ong, K. K. (2012). Childhood obesity. *Circulation*, 126(14), 1770-1779. <u>https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/abs/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.047738</u>

Levy, P. S., & Lemeshow, S. (2013). A sampling of populations: methods and applications. John Wiley & Sons. <u>https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=XU9ZmLe5k1IC&oi=fnd&pg=P</u> <u>T14&dq=Levy,+P.+S.,+%26+Lemeshow,+S.+(2013).+A+sampling+of+populatio</u> ns:+methods+and+applications.+John+Wiley+%26+Sons.&ots=oceRJfXBSl&sig =6Tm7RtS5u17jmdG3FnEuCAb3qFI

- Li, X., Memarian, E., Sundquist, J., Zöller, B., & Sundquist, K. (2014). Neighborhood deprivation, individual-level familial and socio-demographic factors and diagnosed childhood obesity: a nationwide multilevel study from Sweden. *Obesity facts*, 7(4), 253-263. <u>https://karger.com/ofa/article-abstract/7/4/253/240044</u>
- Lytle, L. A. (2009). Examining the etiology of childhood obesity: The IDEA study. *American journal of community psychology*, *44*(3-4), 338. <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10464-009-9269-1</u>
- Mitchell, M. L., & Jolley, J. M. (2012). Research design explained. Nelson Education. <u>https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=zc4KAAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=</u> <u>PR5&dq=Mitchell,+M.+L.,+%26+Jolley,+J.+M.+(2012).+Research+design+expl</u> <u>ained.+Nelson+Education.&ots=IKG09Akx9U&sig=A2bsVtfVbt6BMKLc4nujS-Gy1CU</u>
- Moreno, L. A., Tomas, C., Gonzalez-Gross, M., Bueno, G., Perez-Gonzalez, J. M., &
 Bueno, M. (2004). Micro-environmental and socio-demographic determinants of childhood obesity. *International Journal of Obesity*, 28(3), S16-S20.

https://www.nature.com/articles/0802798

Ngulube, P. (2005). Research procedures used by Master of Information Studies students at the University of Natal in 1982–2002 with special reference to their sampling techniques and survey response rates: a methodological discourse. *The International information & library review*, *37*(2), 127-143. Obama, M. (2018) Becoming. U.K: Viking Press.

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13183222.2018.1418962

- Ogden, C. L., Carroll, M. D., Kit, B. K., & Flegal, K. M. (2014). Prevalence of childhood and adult obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. *Jama*, 311(8), 806-814. <u>https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/article-abstract/1832542</u>
- Owen, J. Rosch, J. And Smith, S. (2011). Preventing childhood obesity: Policy and practice strategy for North Carolina. Center for child and family policy, Duke University. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED540122</u>
- Paradis, E., O'Brien, B., Nimmon, L., Bandiera, G., & Martimianakis, M. A. T. (2016).
 Design: Selection of data collection methods. *Journal of graduate medical education*, 8(2), 263. <u>https://meridian.allenpress.com/jgme/article-abstract/8/2/263/34418</u>
- Parliament, C.; Driscoll, E. M.; Samuels, K.; Ward, L.; Baranowski, T. M.; Kessinger, T.; and Jahan-Mihan, A. (2016). Childhood obesity in Florida: A narrative review on current trends and interventions. *Florida Public Health Review*, 13 (16), 128-136. https://digitalcommons.unf.edu/fphr/vol13/iss1/16
- Pulgarón, E. R. (2013). Childhood obesity: a review of increased risk for physical and psychological comorbidities. *Clinical therapeutics*, 35(1), A18-A32. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0149291812007266</u>
- Ranjani, H., Mehreen, T. S., Pradeepa, R., Anjana, R. M., Garg, R., Anand, K., & Mohan,
 V. (2016). Epidemiology of childhood overweight & obesity in India: A
 systematic review. *The Indian journal of medical research*, *143*(2), 160.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4859125/

- Rao, D. P., Kropac, E., Do, M. T., Roberts, K. C., & Jayaraman, G. C. (2016). Childhood overweight and obesity trends in Canada. *Health promotion and chronic disease prevention in Canada: research, policy and practice*, *36*(9), 194.
 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5129778/
- Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (2020) State of Children Obesity. https://www.academicpedsjnl.net/article/S1876-2859(19)30513-3/abstract
- Sahoo, K.; Sahoo, b. and Bhadona, A.S. (2015). childhood obesity: Causes and consequences. Family practice, 4(2),187-192. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4408699/
- Saelens, B. E., Sallis, J. F., Frank, L. D., Couch, S. C., Zhou, C., Colburn, T., ... & Glanz, K. (2012). Obesogenic neighborhood environments, child and parent obesity: The Neighborhood Impact on Kids study. *American journal of preventive medicine*, 42(5), e57-e64.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0749379712001304

Sahoo, K., Sahoo, B., Choudhury, A. K., Sofi, N. Y., Kumar, R., & Bhadoria, A. S. (2015). Childhood obesity: causes and consequences. *Journal of family medicine and primary care*, 4(2), 187.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4408699/

San Jose Mercury (2004) *Survey on Childhood Obesity*. Kaiser Family Foundation, March 2004.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0749379704002478

Sanyaolu, A., Okorie, C., Qi, X., Locke, J. and Rehman, R. (2019). Childhood and Adolescent Obesity in the United States: A Public Health Concern. Global Pediatric Health Volume 6: 1–11.

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/2333794X19891305

- Schunk, D. H. (2012). Social cognitive theory. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2011-11701-005</u>
- Strauss, R. (1999). Childhood obesity. *Current problems in pediatrics*. 29 (1), 5-29. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0045938099800115
- Simon, M. (2011). Assumptions, limitations, and delimitations. <u>https://www.academia.edu/download/63928872/Assumptionslimitationsdelimitati</u> <u>onsX20200715-47573-vnzy6b.pdf</u>
- Singh, G. K., Kogan, M. D., & Van Dyck, P. C. (2010). Changes in state-specific childhood obesity and overweight prevalence in the United States from 2003 to 2007. Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine, 164(7), 598-607. https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamapediatrics/article-abstract/383471
- Skinner, A. C., & Skelton, J. A. (2014). Prevalence and trends in obesity and severe obesity among children in the United States, 1999-2012. *JAMA pediatrics*, 168(6), 561-566. <u>https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jamapediatrics/article-abstract/1856480</u>
- Stamatakis, E., Wardle, J., & Cole, T. J. (2010). Childhood obesity and overweight prevalence trends in England: evidence for growing socioeconomic disparities. *International journal of obesity*, 34(1), 41-47.

https://www.nature.com/articles/ijo2009217

- Sullivan-Bolyai, S., Bova, C., & Singh, M. D. (2014). Data-collection methods. Nursing Research in Canada-E-Book: Methods, Critical Appraisal, and Utilization, 287. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=EXIGEAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg= PP1&dq=Sullivan-Bolyai,+S.,+Bova,+C.,+%26+Singh,+M.+D.+(2014).+Datacollection+methods.+Nursing+Research+in+Canada-E-Book:+Methods,+Critical+Appraisal,+and+Utilization,+287.&ots=j7egeUA2cO& sig=rIZPga_W2mW3HodrkIsq5F0ggak
- Turner, J. C. (2010). Social categorization and the self-concept: A social cognitive theory of group behavior. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2010-11535-012</u>Waters, E., de Silva-Sanigorski, A., Burford, B. J., Brown, T., Campbell, K. J., Gao, Y., ... & Summerbell, C. D. (2011). Interventions for preventing obesity in children. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, (12). <u>https://www.cochranelibrary.com/cdsr/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD001871.pub3/ab</u>

stract

- WHO (2018) Taking action on childhood obesity. WHO, Geneva Switzerland.
 <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/274792/WHO-NMH-PND-ECHO-18.1-eng.pdf</u>
- WHO (2017). Ending childhood obesity. WHO, Geneva Switzerland.

https://journals.humankinetics.com/view/journals/jpah/17/1/article-p96.xml

Wilson, P., O'Meara, Summerbell, C. and Kelly, S. (2003). The prevention of childhood obesity. *Quality and Safe Health Care*, 12, 65-74. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1743659/

Zimmerman, B. J. (2000). Attaining self-regulation: A social cognitive perspective. In *Handbook of self-regulation* (pp. 13-39). Academic Press. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780121098902500317

Appendix: Participant Survey

Participant Survey

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this study. Please return this questionnaire to me as soon as you can. Your responses are confidential and will only be used in my dissertation research. Your completion of this survey serves as your informed consent.

- 1. Please choose your age group.
 - \Box 20-25 years old
 - \Box 26-30 years old
 - □ 31-35 years old
 - \Box 36-40 years old
 - \Box 41 years old or older
- 2. Please choose your race/ethnicity.
 - \Box Hispanic/Latino
 - or
 - \Box Non-Hispanic Black
 - □ Non-Hispanic White
 - □ Pacific Islander
 - \Box Native American
 - □ Other
- 3. Please indicate the highest education completed.
 - \Box Below high school
 - \Box Some high school
 - □ High School graduate/GED
 - □ Attended college/associate degree
 - □ Bachelor's degree
 - \Box Master's degree or higher
- 4. Please indicate your income category
 - □ \$25,000 or less
 - □ \$25,001 to \$50,000
 - □ \$51,001 to \$75,000
 - □ \$75,001 to \$100,000
 - □ \$100,001 to \$150,000
 - □ \$150,001 or more
- 5. How many children do you have? _____
- 6. Has a doctor ever told you that any of your children were heavier than the recommended weight for your child's age?

□ Yes --- Complete Item #7

- □ No --- You are finished! Thank you for participating in the study!
- 7. Please indicate your child's BMI for each child that has ever been over the recommended weight for the last 4 years. You may have to obtain this information from your doctor.

Child's	Child's gender	Child's	Child's BMI 2	Child's BMI 4
Current Age	(Male or	Current BMI	years ago	years ago
	Female)			

Thank you for participating in the study!